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INTRODUCTION


County Tyrone is part of the historic province of Ulster, and many significant ‘arrivals’ and ‘departures’ has helped to define its history. From the exit of famous clans during the ‘Flight of the Earls’ episode to the recent influx of a vast array of nationalities from around the world, the county has developed into a shining example of twenty-first-century life in Ireland.


Indeed, Tyrone or Tír Eoghain – Eoghan’s land – is a diverse place in terms of its people and its landscape. The bustling towns of Dungannon and Cookstown in the south and Omagh and Strabane further north can be juxtaposed with the slower pace and tranquillity of the Glenelly Valley and small hamlets that are dotted around the county. It is a fine example of how the Planter and the Gael has co-existed since the times of the Plantation – while in more recent times the ‘newcomers’ from other European regions (and often further afield) who have decided that Tyrone offers them the opportunities that other places cannot.


Perhaps the irony about this new demographic is that Tyrone has historically been a county of emigration – particularly to North America and Australasia as people sought better opportunities when times were economically difficult in their native land. This has been recognised by the building of the magnificent Ulster American Folk Park that is situated between Omagh and Newtownstewart, which pays homage to the Diaspora of Tyrone and other Irish counties.


For those fortunate enough to have stayed in the ‘O’Neill County’, as it is often termed, the castles, lakes, mountains and forests are among the most beautiful and enchanting in the whole of Ireland.


One such attraction is Favour Royal Forest in Augher. It contains St Patrick’s Chair and Well, symbolising the patron saint’s close connection to Tyrone. Indeed, St Patrick is a popular title of many churches, sporting organisations and schools throughout the county.


The natural beauty of Tyrone is enhanced by the warmth and friendliness of its people. While there have been difficult times due to economic reasons and during the ‘Troubles’ of the twentieth century, Tyrone people are proud, resilient and talented. These key attributes have often translated into success on the international stage, whether it be the remarkable achievements of General James Shields from Altmore near Galbally, who became a senator in the United States Congress; or Elizabeth Noble from Dungannon, who became known as Sister Nivedita, a highly influential educationalist in India.


The county town of Omagh is a central location in Tyrone for sporting and cultural events, while further west the towns of Castlederg, Dromore and Trillick have also been noted for their musical and literary contributions down the years. The literary aspect to Tyrone life has been renowned since the days of William Carleton in the nineteenth century, and his famous aptitude for writing about the people and places of Tyrone, Ulster and Ireland has been carried on by respected writers such as Benedict Kiely and Brian O’Nolan.


The esteemed talents of musicians such as Paul Brady and Philomena Begley have also been internationally recognised, with their fabulous longevity and success both at home and in many other countries a tribute to their Tyrone roots.


In sporting terms, Tyrone individuals have achieved wonderful accolades and trophies: world titles in snooker, major titles in golf, along with success in team sports such as rugby, soccer and Gaelic games where Tyrone teams have made their mark on the highest stage. The inaugural All-Ireland Senior Gaelic football success for Tyrone in 2003 was almost a century in the making, but it was celebrated raucously. The legacy of this victory shouldn’t be underestimated, as it planted a seed that will inspire future generations.


Tyrone has had its own often unique or indeed peculiar superstitions; for example, it was considered unlucky to be the first house to show smoke on a May morning, with the cattle being milked and the byre swept clean before the fire was lit. One cure worth mentioning is for deafness; that is to anoint an ear with the oil of eels!


Tyrone may be rapidly changing in a demographic sense but the natural beauty hasn’t changed despite the passing of millennia – Beaghmore Stone Circles being a fine example. This group of Neolithic stones is a strong symbol that the past in Tyrone is often inescapable – and that our shared heritage and culture in the O’Neill County is to be cherished and treasured. Hopefully this book will remind us all of that.
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Far away I hear you calling,


Motherland! Still dear to me;


When the autumn leaves are falling


I’ll be back across the sea,


Tramping through the mist that gathers


Down from Sperrin’s summits lone


To the homestead of my fathers


On the uplands of Tyrone.





W.F. Marshall ‘The Bard of Tyrone’, Purple and Gold







1


A POTTED HISTORY


OF TYRONE





County Tyrone covers an area that is geographically and historically part of the Irish province of Ulster.


Tyrone gets its name from the Irish Tír Eoghain, meaning ‘Eoghan's land’, after the ancient division of north-west Ireland between the two sons of Niall Noígiallach, or Niall of the Nine Hostages, Conall and Eoghan. Most of what is now Donegal became Tír Conaill, or ‘Conall’s land’, while the remainder went to Eoghan during the fifth century AD, who founded the kingdom of Aileach, later known as Tír Eoghain.


Before it became known as an Irish county, this area of Tír Eoghain referred to the large territory where Eoghan’s descendant Hugh O’Neill exerted his authority – an area which included a large swathe of the present counties of Tyrone and Derry. The O’Neills ruled for hundreds of years and the influence that this dynasty had can still be seen today in villages and towns across the county; their stronghold, Dungannon, has been one of the most strategically important sites throughout the history of Ireland.


The concept of the ‘county’ was created by the English administration as the major subdivision of an Irish province in the years following the Anglo-Norman invasion of Ireland, but it wasn’t until the sixteenth century that Tyrone became officially regarded by the English Tudors as a county.


These are some important milestones that had an impact on Tyrone and its people:





c. 7000–4000 BC: Archaeologists can trace the first human inhabitants in the north of Ireland back to this period, in what is termed the Mesolithic or Middle Stone Age. These were thought to be the very first immigrants to Ireland – possibly reaching the western shores of Lough Neagh from the River Bann. Flint tools dredged out of the Blackwater river date from this period. It is thought that these people survived by hunting, fishing and the gathering of wild plant foods.





c. 4000 BC: People began to clear the landscape in order to grow crops, which resulted in a reduction of natural forest throughout the northern part of Ireland. This period of history is termed the Neolithic or New Stone Age. Archaeologists identified the remains of cereals and domestic animal bones that mark the introduction of agriculture into the landscape, and the first settled farming communities established with animals being domesticated for use.


Perhaps one of the most important legacies left by the Neolithic farmers was their megalithic tombs for their honoured dead, or large earthen constructions used primarily as burial places. The emphasis placed on these megaliths in archaeological studies is mainly due to the fact that they are the only things to have survived largely intact from the Neolithic era. The construction of megaliths did not commence with the first Neolithic settlers. Rather, their construction began several centuries after the first arrivals, around 3500 BC.


Thanks to the excavation of forty-five prehistoric sites around County Tyrone, the evidence suggests that the four main tomb types (court, portal, passage and wedge) were present at various locations around Tyrone – there are 130 of them in total. These tombs consist of a burial chamber surrounded by a large mound of stone, and are the most prominent Neolithic field monuments.


Another ritual monument of the Neolithic period is the henge, with its ditch inside an outer bank (unlike that of the rath, which is outside). A Tyrone example is Dún Ruadh, meaning Red Fort, situated about 4 miles north of An Creagán in Mid-Tyrone.





c. 2500–600 BC: With the dawn of the Bronze Age in Ireland, there was the gradual introduction of metal into the everyday experience of people. Tyrone can boast of three gold lunulae (moon-shaped neck ornaments of the early Bronze Age) which were found at Tullanafoile, Trillick and Cregganconroe.


The first metal workers, the ‘Beaker folk’ (who arrived in Ireland from 1800 BC during the Middle Bronze Age), built their characteristic graves, which sometimes contained the pottery drinking vessels from which they have been named. Their wedge-shaped graves had a burial gallery of large upright stones, roofed with lintels, the grave narrowing and becoming lower towards the rear; Loughmacrory being one example.


Existing tool types, such as stone axes and flint knives, were transformed into new forms made in copper and bronze. During the Bronze Age people settled the landscape in ever-increasing numbers and much of the previously avoided lowlands, with their heavier soils, became occupied.


Beaghmore is a ritual site in Tyrone associated with the Early Bronze Age. In an area where bog was cleared, seven stone circles, ten alignments of stones and more than twelve cairns were found.





c. 500 BC onwards: The first ‘Celtic’ immigrants arrived in Ireland soon after 500 BC and archaeologists term the period from then until AD 400 as the Iron Age. Habitation sites became more easily identifiable – some of these were in crannógs (artificial islands in lakes) which continued in use until the later Middle Ages.


The Celts had a highly structured society, with kings at the head. Under the kings were: the nobles, the warrior class, the aes dána (craftsmen), the freemen, and, at the bottom, the slaves.


The Celts also worshipped their gods: Lugh was lord of the first fruits of harvest. Men and women met at Lughnasa sites to celebrate Lugh with games, dancing and feats of strength.


OGHAM


The written form of the Celtic language known as Ogham is the earliest form of the Irish language. This twenty-five-letter alphabet was supposedly inspired by Ogma, God of Eloquence. It is a script that consists of a series of notches and strokes to represent the different letters of the alphabet. Surviving inscriptions usually consist of personal or tribal names. It is usually carved along the edge(s) of a large upright stone, beginning at the base and running upwards to, and over, the top, if necessary. While the main concentration of Ogham-inscribed stones is in the province of Munster, there is an Ogham-inscribed pillar stone at Aghascrebagh, about 4 miles from An Creagán in Tyrone.
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c. AD 432: Patrick began his mission to Ireland around this time, possibly as successor to Palladius, the first bishop of Ireland. Although Christian missionaries had arrived before him, the Irish remained a pagan people. During the fifth century AD, Christianity was introduced to the north of Ireland on an increasingly wider scale.


The raths and cashels (ringforts) of our landscape were built from this time on until the 1000s. The Clogher ringfort was perhaps one of the first in the north of Ireland. The early Christians usually lived in circular raths enclosing huts and room for stock; for example the Gortalowry rath in Cookstown, which is inside the old Derryloran cemetery.


Saint Patrick concentrated much of his missionary efforts in the north of Ireland, and this included the founding of a monastery at Clogher. The churches at Ballyclog and Donaghmore are two other examples that are allegedly testament to St Patrick’s influence. Ballyclog translates into English as ‘the townland of the Bell’ and recognises the association of the East Tyrone district with St Patrick’s Bell.





Sixth to ninth centuries AD: The territorial expansion of the Cenél nEógain (descendants of Eoghan) from their Inishowen heartland brought them into contact with the Airgialla (a federation of various kingdoms) who controlled a large part of Ulster, including the present South and East Tyrone.


The middle part of the eighth century saw Cenél nEógain influence become secure within the area of County Tyrone, but the conflict between them lasted for three centuries – culminating in the Battle of Leth Cam in 827. This was a watershed in the history of Ulster as the victory of Cenél nEógain meant their dominance in the Mid-Ulster region for the next eight centuries.


Following the consolidation of Cenél nEógain within the former Airgialla region territories, the geo-political designation Tír Eoghain had, before the end of the tenth century, extended in meaning to cover what later became County Tyrone.





c. eleventh century onwards: Tyrone becomes the traditional stronghold of the various O’Neill clans and families, the strongest of the Gaelic Irish families in Ulster, surviving into the seventeenth century. Tullaghoge Fort came into historical prominence from this time when it was a dynastic centre and inauguration place of the Cenél nEógain.





1171: The Normans came to Ulster in small numbers; and whilst they built their bases near the sea coasts of Antrim and Down, they made occasional raids into Mid-Ulster, such as that on Errigal Keerogue in 1171.





1455: Henry, the son of Eoghan O’Neill, was ceremonially inaugurated as the ‘Great O’Neill’ at Tullaghoge.





1483: Henry resigns as chieftain; his eldest son Conn Mór is inaugurated.





1493: Conn Mór is murdered by his younger brother Henry Óg, and this leads to a prolonged civil war in Tír Eoghain.





1550s and '60s, Era of Shane O’Neill: Shane O’Neill was perhaps the most powerful man in Ulster during this era. Known to his own people as Seán an Díomas (Shane the Proud), Queen Elizabeth I recognised Shane as ‘Captain’ of Tyrone during his visit to London on 3 January 1562.


However, he went on to antagonise his Ulster neighbours, and in 1567, as the O’Neills crossed the River Swilly at Farsetmore, they met a furious onslaught of O’Donnells and MacSweeneys – and Shane was killed during the fighting that ensued.





1585: The chieftain Hugh O’Neill was granted the title of Earl of Tyrone by Elizabeth I on the understanding that he would accept English law (like most of the other Irish chieftains) and introduce English reform policy throughout Tyrone and Ulster.





1598, The Rebellion of Hugh O’Neill: Although Hugh O’Neill had worked closely with the English Crown, he eventually grew disillusioned by its draconian policies, especially those that threatened his land. He began plotting a revolt in the late 1580s, building a formidable army, making contact with Catholic Spain, and formed an alliance with other Ulster chieftains, most notably with Red Hugh O’Donnell. The Nine Years' War, as it was later known, began in 1594. The following year Hugh secured the title of ‘The O’Neill’ or chief of the O’Neill clan from Turlough Luineach O’Neill.


Hugh O’Neill led other Irish clans in their revolt against Queen Elizabeth. For some years they were successful, including in 1598 when O’Neill routed the English army at the Battle of Yellow Ford when Hugh O’Donnell and Hugh Maguire attacked Henry Bagenal’s Crown forces on the march with his 4,000 men and wiped out half his army.





1601: O’Neill is defeated at the Battle of Kinsale on 21 December.





1603, The Flight of the Earls: Two years after O’Neill’s defeat at Kinsale, following the death of Elizabeth I, Hugh O’Neill made peace with the new king, James I, and the Treaty of Mellifont was signed. This restored the earls of Ulster to substantial land holdings and family ties; however, they felt uneasy with the growing numbers of English settlers. Some began to plot a renewed rebellion, again involving Spanish assistance. However, their English enemies, resenting that the Irish lords had been allowed to keep their lands, and suspicious of their loyalty to the Crown, tried to reduce the Irish lords’ power. Facing renewed restrictions from the English regime and fearful of being charged with treason, Hugh O’Neill and his supporters chose to flee.


On 4 September 1607, O’Neill and other northern earls boarded a French ship at Rathmullan in Donegal to sail for the continent. They eventually landed in the Spanish Netherlands and from there proceeded to Rome, where they lived out their years on modest papal pensions. O’Neill died there in 1616 at the age of 76.


Within months of the departure of Hugh O’Neill and his followers, their lands were confiscated by the Crown and the path was clear for the Ulster Plantation.





Early seventeenth century, Ulster Plantations: With 500,000 acres of land now in its possession, the English Crown began a settlement scheme known as the Ulster Plantation, which commenced in 1609. The Irish Lord Deputy, Sir Arthur Chichester, was convinced the only way to control Ulster was to plant it with English and Scottish settlers. If people couldn’t prove their ownership of land, it was confiscated from them and given to the new settlers.


The scheme’s main objectives were to increase popular loyalty to England by greatly increasing the non-Irish settlers, in essence ‘urbanising’ parts of Ulster and improving the economy of Ireland and therefore increasing the Crown revenues. It provided opportunities for landless nobles from England and Scotland.
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Tyrone was divided into five ‘precincts’:





Omagh, 11,000 acres


Strabane, 13,500 acres


Clogher, 12,500 acres


Mountjoy, 9,500 acres


Dungannon, 16,000 acres





1614: The Royal Charter to establish a free school in County Tyrone was laid down by King James I in 1608, resulting in the Royal School Dungannon being established by 1614, originally at Mountjoy near Lough Neagh.





1641: The resentment of those who had lost their lands in the Ulster Plantation or who now paid high rents for their land came to the surface. They were determined to win back their lands from the new settlers. An uprising was planned for 23 October 1641 but on the night before this, government officials in Dublin received information about the plot and arrested some of the main protagonists. However, the rebellion or rising (depending on one’s perspective) went ahead as planned, and thousands of Protestant settlers were killed.





1646: The Scots army of General Robert Monro had arrived in Ulster in 1642 to aid the settlers, but four years later he received a crushing defeat at the hands of Owen Roe O’Neill’s army at the Battle of Benburb. Owen Roe was the nephew of Hugh O’Neill.





1649: This ‘rising’ led to a trenchant response, especially with the arrival of Oliver Cromwell in Ireland, and led to the introduction of the Penal Laws against Roman Catholics across Ireland. Tyrone, as the chief centre of the rising, suffered most. Every surviving Catholic landowner of Irish stock lost his property as well as most of the lesser tenants.


THE PENAL LAWS


These were a series of laws that were also used against Protestant non-conformists, such as Presbyterians. Some of these included:





Exclusion from the legal professions and the judiciary


Exclusion from most public offices (Catholics since 1607, Presbyterians since 1707)





All alike had to pay ‘tithes’ (taxes – usually a tenth of income) for the support of the Church of Ireland. There were also commercial and trade restrictions which applied to the whole population: embargoes were placed on the export of wool, cattle and later, glass.





1724: The linen trade was flourishing throughout parts of Tyrone and free wheels and spindles were distributed to qualified persons throughout the county. It was the O’Neills who had originally fostered the making of linen, and until the seventeenth century it was for home use only.


Weaving predominated to the east of the county, spinning to the west. The popularity of linen meant that weaving occupied at least half of the male population (some full-time and the rest during slack times in the farming year) and most farmhouses had a loom which was constantly in use during the winter months.


Markets such as the one in Dungannon traded in flax, yarn and linen, both bleached and brown, although after 1728 it was only brown linen that was sold in the markets.


ESTABLISHMENT OF THE FOUR MAIN TOWNS IN TYRONE


Cookstown: The original town was built in about 1609, but was destroyed in the rebellion of 1641. The present town was built about 1750.


Dungannon: In 1609, it became a planned municipality with its Market Square, Scotch Street and Irish Street. It was awarded a charter in 1612.


Omagh: Omagh began to develop a reputation as a fortress town by the middle of the fifteenth century when the occupant of the castle was Art O’Neill. Most of the town of Omagh was destroyed by fire in 1742, but it recovered and by 1768 Omagh had replaced Dungannon as the county town of County Tyrone.


Strabane: James Hamilton, the Earl of Abercorn, came to Strabane as the Jacobean grantee, and his castle was built in 1609. The earl proceeded to build the town, which became a borough in 1612.





1771: One of Tyrone’s most famous industries, Tyrone Crystal, was founded in Dungannon by Benjamin Edwards. It also had the distinction of being the first Irish crystal producer.





1782–93, Dungannon Convention Meetings: On 15 February 1782, delegates from 147 Volunteer Corps (these were local militias in the late eighteenth century that were raised to defend Ireland from the threat of French and Spanish invasion) met at the Presbyterian church in Dungannon.


During the first meeting (there were a total of four meetings) the delegates pledged support for resolutions advocating legislative independence for Ireland, whilst proclaiming their loyalty to the British Crown.


This marked the beginning of a politically active era in Ireland, and was an attempt by Roman Catholics and Presbyterians to seek relief from the Penal laws and trade restrictions.





1795–98: The Orange Order was formed in Loughgall in the neighbouring county of Armagh during 1795. This Protestant organisation soon became well organised throughout Tyrone, while on the Catholic side there were similar groups such as the ‘Ribbonmen’.


The revolutionary United Irishmen’s strength was seen in the members in Tyrone increasing from 4,855 in October 1796 to around 14,000 by May 1797, but no serious fighting occurred in Tyrone during the 1798 rising, unlike parts of Antrim and Down.





1800–01, The Act of Union: Following the United Irishmen’s failed rising in 1798, the British Government, under Prime Minister William Pitt, decided to unify the Dublin and Westminster parliaments. This meant that Irish political representation transferred to Westminster. The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland came into existence on 1 January 1801.


Tyrone returned two MPs to represent the county in the British Parliament at Westminster. As Catholics were excluded from qualifying as voters until 1793 and taking seats in Parliament until 1829, it wasn’t until the electoral reforms which took effect in 1885 that most adult males became voters.


In these circumstances most Members of Parliament came from a limited number of aristocratic and gentry families, and there were few contested elections. The first two MPs who represented Tyrone at Westminster were James Stewart and Viscount Corry, both co-opted on 1 January 1801.





1802: A Statistical Survey was published by John McEvoy; this was a valuable account of the state of agriculture, political economy, labour wages and conditions in County Tyrone at the beginning of the nineteenth century.





1804: Whilst the Dublin–Belfast mail route had opened about a decade before, there was a coach connection established between Dungannon and Newry during this year, and another ran from Aughnacloy–Caledon–Dungannon.





1815: A coach connection was established between Dungannon and Armagh.





1829: The passing of the Roman Catholic Relief Act in Ireland led to the gradual erosion of the Penal Laws, giving Catholics full civil and political rights.





1838: On 31 July, an Act ‘for the more effectual Relief of the Destitute Poor in Ireland’ was passed. Unions were to be formed based on electoral divisions, which in turn were composed of townlands.





1839: Poor Law Unions were initiated in the four largest towns in Tyrone: Cookstown, Dungannon, Omagh and Strabane. Omagh was formally declared on 9 May and covered an area of 272 square miles. Its operation was overseen by an elected Board of Guardians, representing its twenty-nine electoral divisions; Dungannon Poor Law Union was formally declared just a few months later – on 20 July – and covered an area of 160 square miles. The site later became the home of the South Tyrone hospital.





1841: The new Omagh Union workhouse was erected on a 6-acre site to the north of Omagh. Designed by the Poor Law Commissioners’ architect George Wilkinson, the building was based on one of his standard plans to accommodate 800 inmates.


The workhouse was declared fit for the reception of ‘paupers’ on 24 August 1841 and admitted its first inmates on the same day. Discipline in the workhouse was strict. Some of the offences and their punishments recorded in the Strabane workhouse during the 1840s included:
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